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INTRODUCTION

The European Commission’s Strategy for Equality between Women and Men is coming to an end in 
2015. It is a comprehensive framework committing the Commission to promote gender equality into 
all its policies for the following thematic priorities: 

• equal economic independence for women and men;
• equal pay for work of equal value;
• equality in decision-making;
• dignity, integrity and ending gender-based violence;
• promoting gender equality beyond the EU;
• horizontal issues (gender roles, including the role of men, legislation and governance tools).

This five-year Strategy recognises the essential role of equality bodies in assisting victims, promoting 
rights and developing research on gender-based discrimination.  

Equinet has organised this conference with the aim of sharing equality bodies’ expertise on gender 
equality with EU level stakeholders, as well as facilitating discussions on future strategic priorities 
and tools in the field of gender equality.   

This event will create a momentum to assess achievements made possible by the Strategy and 
remaining challenges from the perspective of equality bodies. 

During the Conference, we will: 
• Present the preliminary findings of the Equinet Perspective on the work of equality bodies

on gender equality and future strategic priorities, with the working title The Persistence of
Discrimination, Harassment and Inequality for Women. The Work of Equality Bodies
Informing a New European Commission Strategy for Gender Equality.

• Highlight equality bodies’ experiences in the implementation of gender equality legislation
and policies.

• Provide a platform for discussion on key priorities, good practices and possible future
developments at EU and national level.

• Facilitate an exchange between equality bodies, EU institutions and stakeholders
contributing to effective cooperation for the promotion of gender equality.

Both the Perspective and this conference form part of the outputs of the Working Group on Gender 
Equality, which was established in 2013 following the incorporation of the work of the Network of 
Gender Equality Bodies (previously coordinated by the European Commission) into Equinet – the 
European Network of Equality Bodies. The working group aims to enable discussion, exchange of 
good practices, reflection among staff members of equality bodies, as well as action on the effective 
promotion of gender equality and to combat gender discrimination by equality bodies.  
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http://ec.europa.eu/justice/gender-equality/economic-independence/index_en.htm
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http://ec.europa.eu/justice/gender-equality/development-cooperation/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/events/role-of-men/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/gender-equality/law/index_en.htm


 

 AGENDA 
08.30 - 
09.00 

Registration and Welcome 

09.00-
09.20 

Opening speech:   

Evelyn Collins - Chair of Equinet, Chief Executive of the Equality Commission for 
Northern Ireland 

09.20- 
09.45 

Keynote Address 
Vĕra Jourová - Commissioner for Justice, Consumers and Gender Equality, European 
Commission 

09.45 – 
11.00 

SESSION 1 – Mainstreaming gender equality 

This session will address the role equality bodies play in contributing to change in the 
functioning of public and private institutions, and areas for further development. 
Chair: Petr Polák, Head of Department of Equal Treatment, Public Defender of Rights, 
Czech Republic 

 
Mainstreaming gender equality in 
Northern Ireland: implementing the 
statutory equality duty 

Darren McKinstry, Equality Commission 
for Northern Ireland  

 Learnings from equality bodies’ promotion 
and policy work, from Equinet Perspective 

Mari-Liis Sepper, Gender Equality and 
Equal Treatment Commissioner, Estonia 

 
What policy context is needed to enable 
mainstreaming gender equality? 

Agnès Hubert, College of Europe, former 
Adviser in the Bureau of European Policy 
Advisers (BEPA) 

Questions & Answers – Discussion 

11.00-
11.20 

Coffee break 
 

11.20 – 
12.35 

SESSION 2 – Litigating for change 

This session will address the role equality bodies play in implementing and 
developing gender equality legislation, and areas for improvement. 
Chair: Goran Selanec, Deputy Ombudsman, Office of the Ombudswoman 
for Gender Equality, Croatia 

  Litigating for change in Sweden 
Martin Mörk, Equality Ombudsman, 
Sweden 

 
 Learnings from equality bodies’ legal 

work, from Equinet Perspective 
Kosana Beker, Commissioner for the 
Protection of Equality, Serbia 

 
 What legal and policy context is needed 

to complete gender equality legislation 
and implement it? 

Snježana Vasiljević, Assistant Professor 
and Chair of European Public Law, 
University of Zagreb 
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Questions & Answers – Discussion 

12.35-
13.40 

 Lunch  

 

13.40 – 
14.55 

SESSION 3 – Communication and awareness raising 
This session will address the role equality bodies play in raising awareness on 
structural gender inequality and its roots, improving rights awareness, as well as areas 
for improvement. 

Chair: Sandra Konstatzky, Deputy Director, Ombud for Equal Treatment, Austria 

 Raising awareness in the Netherlands 
Carina van Eck, Commissioner, Netherlands 
Institute for Human Rights 

 
Learnings from equality bodies’ work on 
raising  awareness, from Equinet 
Perspective 

Thekla Demetriadou, Office of the 
Commissioner for Administration 
(Ombudsman), Cyprus 

 
What policy context is needed to enable 
awareness raising for gender equality? 

Jane Morrice, Vice-President, European 
Economic and Social  Committee  

Questions & Answers – Discussion 

14.55-
15.10 

Coffee break  

15.10 – 
16.30 

SESSION 4 – Europe in 2020 – our vision for gender equality 

This session will close the seminar with visions of Europe in 2020, following five years 
of strategic work on gender equality. 
Chair: Daniela Bankier, Head of Gender Equality Unit, European Commission 

• Evelyn Collins, Chair of Equinet, Chief Executive of the Equality Commission for Northern 
Ireland  

• Joanna Maycock, Secretary General, European Women’s Lobby  

• Virginija Langbakk, Director, European Institute for Gender Equality 

Questions & Answers – Discussion  

16.30 – 
17.00 

Closing of the seminar 
Anne Gaspard – Executive Director, Equinet 
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SPEAKERS’ BIOGRAPHIES 

 
Vĕra Jourová, Commissioner for Justice, Consumers and Gender Equality, European Commission   

Vĕra Jourová, of Czech nationality, is the European Commissioner for Justice, 
Consumers and Gender Equality since 2014. 
She was previously in office as Minister for Regional Development and Deputy 
Minister for Regional Development, following her experience as Head of the 
Department of Regional Development of the Vysočina Region and Secretary and 
Spokesperson of the Třebič Municipal Office. 
In the private sector she worked as trainee solicitor for the law firm Bezděk & 
Partners and as Managing Director for Primavera Consulting Ltd. specialising in EU 
funds. She also ensured consultancy activities in the Western Balkans relating to 

EU accession. 
Commissioner Jourová holds a Degree in Law (Mgr.) and a Master's degree (Mgr.) in theory of culture 
from the Charles University, Prague. 
 

Evelyn Collins, Chair of Equinet and Chief Executive of the Equality Commission for Northern Ireland 

Dr. Evelyn Collins has been Chief Executive of the Equality Commission for 
Northern Ireland since March 2000, an organisation with a wide remit under 
Northern Ireland’s equality laws.  Evelyn is a law graduate of Sheffield University, 
and has Masters’ degrees from University of Toronto (Criminology) and Queen’s 
University Belfast (Human Rights and Discrimination Law).  
Evelyn has worked on equality issues since the 1980s, mostly in Northern Ireland 
but also as a national expert working on gender equality in the European 
Commission in Brussels. Evelyn is currently Chair of the Board of Equinet, the 

European Network of Equality Bodies, and a member of the European Commission’s Advisory 
Committee on Equal Opportunities between Women and Men. Evelyn also serves on the Board of 
the Chief Executives’ Forum in Northern Ireland and is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts.  
Evelyn was awarded the CBE in 2008, for services to the public in Northern Ireland.  In July 2014, the 
University of Ulster awarded Evelyn the honorary degree of Doctor of Law (LLD) for her contribution 
to the promotion of equality and good relations. 
 

Petr Polák, Head of Department of Equal Treatment, Public Defender of Rights, Czech Republic 

Graduate of the Faculty of Law (2007) and Faculty of Arts of Masaryk 
University (2009). He started working with the Office of the Public 
Defender of Rights immediately after college. He has been the Head of 
the Department of Equal Treatment of the Office of the Public Defender 
of Rights since 1 May 2012. Since July 2012, he has worked as an 
assistant of the Defender and a member of the Equality Law in Practice 

working group within Equinet. Since 2015 he is a member of the Policy Formation working group. He 
participates in teaching courses in the Legal Clinic on Discrimination and Equal Treatment and the 
Ombudsman Legal Clinic taught at the Faculty of Law of Masaryk University. He also teaches Spanish 
legal terminology at the Faculty of Arts of Masaryk University. He specializes in the issues of 
application of EU law in national practice, the effects of international court case-law in the area of 
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protection against discrimination and age discrimination, inclusive education and the protection of 
rights of ethnic and sexual minorities.  

 

Darren McKinstry, Equality Commission for Northern Ireland  

Darren McKinstry is the Director of Policy and Research with the Equality 
Commission for Northern Ireland. He has responsibility for teams working to 
develop key policy positions across the breadth of equality grounds and to 
bring priority issues to the attention of Government and stakeholders.  
Alongside this, he oversees a research team working to distill data on key 
inequalities in support of evidence-based policy making.  Darren was until 

recently a member of the Northern Ireland Statistics Advisory Group and is currently a member of 
the Northern Ireland Census Advisory Group.   

 

Mari-Liis Sepper, Gender Equality and Equal Treatment Commissioner, Estonia 

Mari-Liis Sepper is the Estonian Gender Equality and Equal Treatment 
Commissioner since October 2010. She holds a MA in law from the University of 
Montpellier (France). She has previously worked as legal adviser at the Gender 
Equality Department in the Ministry of Social Affairs, as lawyer-linguist at the 
European Court of Justice and as advisor at the Commissioner’s office. 
Mari-Liis Sepper has taught human rights courses at the University of Tartu and 
Tallinn and is author and editor of a number of publications on gender equality 
and human rights, among them the commented edition of the Estonian Gender 
Equality Act. Ms. Sepper is a member of Equinet’s executive board.  
 

 
 Agnès Hubert, College of Europe, former Adviser in the Bureau of European Policy Advisers (BEPA)  

Agnès Hubert is associate researcher with PRESAGE (Programme de Recherches 
et d’Enseignements des Savoirs sur le Genre) Science Po/OFCE Paris and visiting 
professor at the College of Europe in Bruges for the academic year 2014-15. She 
was until recently adviser in the Bureau of European Policy advisers (BEPA), the 
think tank of the European Commission. 
She holds degrees in Economics and Political Science from the University of 
Paris Panthéon-Sorbonne. She started her career as a journalist before joining 
the European Commission where she held responsibilities in Development & 

Cooperation, Information & Communication and Social & Employment Policy. After heading the unit 
for Equal Opportunities for Women and Men, she moved to senior advising functions in the Forward 
Studies Unit, in the task force for the White paper on European Governance, the European 
Parliament (Women’s Rights Committee) and in the Bureau of European Policy Advisors.  
She is the author of two books (L’Europe et les femmes, identités en mouvement - 1998; Democracy 
and information society - 1997; two major BEPA policy documents on Social innovation: 
“Empowering people, driving change: Social innovation in the European Union” - 2010 and “Social 
innovation a decade of changes” - 2014, and of numerous academic articles and contributions in the 
fields of gender equality and European integration, social innovation, social and employment 
policies, beyond GDP and well-being.  
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Goran Selanec, Deputy Ombudsman, Office of the Ombudswoman for Gender Equality, Croatia  

Born in Zagreb, Goran graduated from the Faculty of Law where he 
taught European public law before assuming his current position. He is a 
specialist in the field of anti-discrimination and equality policies, with 
LL.M. and S.J.D degrees obtained from the University of Michigan Law 
School. His primary areas of interest are fundamental rights, particularly 
EU Antidiscrimination law with special focus on sex and LGBT equality. 

 

Martin Mörk, Equality Ombudsman, Sweden  

Martin Mörk is Deputy Ombudsman and Head of Litigation for the Swedish Equality 
Ombudsman. A former member of the Swedish Bar and Legal Advisor to the 
Chancellor of Justice in matters concerning EU law, he has argued several cases 
involving inter alia discrimination before domestic courts. 

 

 

Kosana Beker, Commissioner for the Protection of Equality, Serbia  

Kosana Beker, Assistant to Commissioner for Protection of Equality of the 
Republic of Serbia, is responsible for the Department of handling 
complaints regarding discrimination of persons from marginalized groups. 
She previously worked for the Protector of Citizens of the Republic of 
Serbia as Head of Department for Projects and Cooperation, as well as 
Resident Twinning Advisor’s Counterpart in the EU Twinning Project. 

Before that she was very active in the civil sector, advocating for human rights, especially in the field 
of children’s rights, women’s rights and the rights of persons with disabilities. PhD candidate at 
University of Novi Sad, Association of Centers for Interdisciplinary and Multidisciplinary Studies and 
Research, Center for Gender Studies; MA in Gender Studies from UN mandated University for Peace, 
Costa Rica; Law Faculty, University of Belgrade. 

 

Snježana Vasiljević, Assistant Professor and Chair of European Public Law, University of Zagreb  

Snježana Vasiljević, MPhil (Cantab.), PhD, is professor of EU Law, European 
Antidiscrimination Law and Fundamental Rights in the EU at the University of 
Zagreb, Faculty of Law. She earned her Master’s degree from the University of 
Cambridge (Darwin College), and holds a Doctoral degree from the University 
of Zagreb. As a visiting researcher, she specialised at London School of 
Economics, the University of Liverpool, Johannes Kepler Univarsität Linz, 
Columbia University, and the University of California Los Angeles. She has 

written and edited books in the field of EU law and fundamental rights, and has published a number 
of articles in international journals. She has worked in the role of national focal point for the 
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European Commission, for the Fundamental Rights Agency, UNDP Croatia, the Ombudsperson for 
Gender Equality, etc. She serves as an expert member of the Croatian Parliament’s Legislative 
Committee. 

 

Sandra Konstatzky, Deputy Director, Ombud for Equal Treatment, Austria 

Sandra Konstatzky is legal advisor at the Ombud for Equal Treatment at the Federal 
Chancellery (Austrian National Equality Body) since 2003 and since 2006, has 
worked as Deputy Director. Currently writing a thesis for her PhD, she already 
holds a Master’s degree in law from University of Vienna, where she also attended 
a special course on Legal Gender Studies and wrote a Master thesis in the field of 
Access to justice, equal pay for equal work or work of equal value. She is a Board 
member and Vice-President of the Austrian Women Lawyers’ Association.  

 

Carina van Eck, Commissioner, Netherlands Institute for Human Rights  

Carina is currently Commissioner at the Netherlands Equal Treatment 
Committee. 
She has worked in various areas and fields prior to her current position including 
as researcher and lecturer on European Union law at the University of Hamburg, 
Germany; senior advisor at the Ministry of Justice and delegation leader for EU 
negotiations on various legislative proposals and senior advisor at the Office of 
the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Geneva (UNHCR) and to 
the national Coordinator for Counter Terrorism. She has also been Programme 

Manager at the Ministry of Justice on addressing public violence and threats.  
 

Thekla Demetriadou, Office of the Commissioner for Administration (Ombudsman), Cyprus 

Thekla Demetriadou works as an Officer at the Office of the Commissioner for 
Administration and Human Rights (Ombudsman), which also serves as the 
National Equality Body in Cyprus. More specifically, Thekla works at the Human 
Rights Sector of the Office, as well as the Anti-Discrimination Body. Her areas of 
responsibility are: investigation of complaints against public authorities and 
preparation of reports as regards issues of migration, trafficking of persons, 
social rights of asylum seekers (financial, labour, educational, medical), etc. 
Other areas include investigation of complaints and preparation of reports 

against the public or private sector concerning discrimination on the basis of racial/ ethnic origin, 
age, gender, sexual orientation, disability.  
She has represented the Cyprus Equality Body at the Equinet Working Group on Communication 
Strategies and Practices since 2012 and held the role of Moderator of the Group for two years. 
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Jane Morrice, Vice-President, European Economic and Social Committee 

Jane Morrice is a former Deputy Speaker of the first Northern Ireland Assembly 
set up after the Peace Agreement, former Head of the European Commission 
Office in Northern Ireland and former BBC reporter. She was elected Vice 
President of the European Economic and Social Committee in April 2013. In this 
capacity, she is also President of the EESC Communications Group. She is 
currently serving as Deputy Chief Commissioner of the Northern Ireland Equality 
Commission.  
Throughout her career she has been actively involved in peace building and 

conflict resolution. As EC representative, she was a member of Delors task force, which established 
the first EU PEACE Programme, and, during her time in politics, she worked on the implementation of 
the Good Friday Agreement. In her role as EESC Member she has written two reports on EU peace 
building and she continues to work to promote exchange of experience between Northern Ireland 
and people in conflict zones in other parts of the world.  
 

Daniela Bankier, Head of Gender Equality Unit, European Commission  

Dr. Daniela Bankier has been working for the European Commission 
since 1999.  After heading the legal unit for equal treatment and non-
discrimination, she is now Head of Unit for equality between women 
and men in Directorate-General Justice. From 1999-2004 she was a 
Member of the Cabinet of the German budget Commissioner Michaele 
Schreyer and in 2005 became deputy head of cabinet of  Vladimir Spidla,  
Commissioner responsible for Employment, Social Affairs and Equal 

Opportunities. Dr. Daniela Bankier started her professional career in the Austrian Central Bank in 
1991. She was the Head of the Austrian Central Bank's Representation office at the Austrian 
Permanent Representation from 1995 to 1999. Dr. Bankier studied law in Vienna, Paris and at the 
University of Michigan, Law School (LL. M. 91) and obtained a PhD on the legal questions of the 
European Economic and Monetary Union in 2003.  

 

Joanna Maycock, Secretary General, European Women’s Lobby (EWL) 

Joanna Maycock is the EWL’s Secretary General since May 2014 and has 20 
years’ professional experience in senior leadership and governance 
positions in the European and International Development NGO sector. For 
the past 12 years, she has worked in Brussels for ActionAid, a global 
Federation working for a world free from poverty and injustice. Her most 
recent role at ActionAid was as Director for Country Coordination, and Head 
of Europe, and she is also a long-time board member and former President 
of CONCORD, the European Confederation of Development NGOs. Joanna 
also has extensive experience working for migrant women’s rights at the 

International Organization for Migration. 

 

 

8 
 



 
Virginija Langbakk, Director, European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) 

Virginija Langbakk is currently the Director of the European Institute for Gender 
Equality (EIGE) in Vilnius, Lithuania. EIGE, an EU regulatory agency, supports the 
EU and its Member States in promoting gender equality, fighting discrimination 
based on sex and raising awareness about gender issues. Ms. Langbakk is 
responsible for the management of both the administrative and operational 
structures. Her role includes developing and implementing the Institute's mid-term 
and annual work programmes. She aims at positioning the Institute as the most 
important knowledge centre for gender equality in the EU. Over the past 19 years, 
in her capacity as a gender expert, she was involved in bringing the gender 

perspective into the public sector at local, regional and national levels in 38 countries worldwide.  
Previously, Ms. Langbakk worked as Deputy Director at the Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Sweden, 
specialising in Results-Based Management, policies and methods, and capacity building. She also 
worked as a Senior Consultant and Programme Director at the Swedish Institute for 
Public  Administration (Sipu International) in these areas of expertise: gender equality, strategic 
planning, public sector reform, HIV/AIDS, decentralization and capacity building. Before that she has 
worked as a Senior Consultant and Programme Director for AF International; Senior Consultant and 
Programme Manager for the  Swedish Association of Local and Regional Authorities, and the 
municipality of Kalix in Sweden. While working in Lithuania, she served as an Advisor to the Minister 
of Foreign Affairs, Officer at the European Integration Department, Officer at the Diplomatic Protocol 
Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Head of the International Affairs Office in the 
municipality of Kaunas. 
 

Anne Gaspard, Executive Director of Equinet Secretariat 

Anne Gaspard is the Executive Director of Equinet – European Network of Equality 
Bodies since the establishment of the Equinet Secretariat in 2008.  
Anne had been active and involved in the field of equality and non-discrimination at 
a European level since the start of her professional career, following her graduation 
in European studies and political science from University College London and Berlin 
Humboldt University. 
Starting with the campaign of the European Year against Racism in 1997 for the 
European Parliament and a subsequent stage experience within the European 

Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) at the Council of Europe, Anne then joined and 
managed the UK-based secretariat of the European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia 
(EUMC) to support its Chair from 1998 to 2000. Anne was then responsible for the implementation of 
various European anti-discrimination and equality projects for a European diversity management 
consultancy leading the European office of Focus Consultancy in Brussels for seven years, until taking 
up the position of Executive Director of Equinet Secretariat in February 2008. 
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LIST OF PARTICIPANTS 

*EQUINET MEMBERS HAVE BEEN HIGHLIGHTED IN GREEN 
 

Name Surname Organisation Position Country Email 

SPEAKERS 

Daniela Bankier European Commission Head of Unit, Gender 
Equality - JUST-D2-UNIT@ec.europa.eu 

Kosana Beker Commissioner for Protection of 
Equality 

Assistant to 
Commissioner Serbia kosana.beker@ravnopravnost.gov.rs 

Evelyn Collins Equality Commission for 
Northern Ireland 

Chief Executive & 
Equinet Chair 

Northern 
Ireland, UK ecollins@equalityni.org 

Thekla Demetriadou 
Office of the Commissioner for 
Administration and Human 
Rights (Ombudsman) of Cyprus 

Officer Cyprus tdemetriadou@ombudsman.gov.cy 

Agnes Hubert PRESAGE Science po Researcher - agneslydiahubert@gmail.com 

Anne Gaspard Equinet Secretariat Executive Director - Anne.Gaspard@equineteurope.org 

Věra Jourová European Commission 
Commissioner for 
Justice, Consumers 
and Gender Equality 

- VERA-JOUROVA-CONTACT@ec.europa.eu 

Sandra Konstatzky Austrian Ombud for Equal 
Treatment 

Deputy, Senior 
Advisor Austria sandra.konstatzky@bka.gv.at 

Virginija Langbakk European Institute for Gender 
Equality Director - virginija.langbakk@eige.europa.eu 

Joanna Maycock European Women's Lobby Secretary General - joanna.maycock@womenlobby.org 

Darren McKinstry Equality Commission for 
Northern Ireland 

Director of Policy & 
Research 

Northern 
Ireland, UK dmckinstry@equalityni.org 

Jane Morrice European Economic and Social 
Committee Vice President - ulrika.arvidsson-

velasquez@eesc.europa.eu 

Martin Mörk Swedish Equality Ombudsman Deputy Ombudsman Sweden martin.mork@do.se 

Petr Polak Office of the Public Defender of 
Rights 

Head of the Division 
of Equal Treatment 

Czech 
Republic petr.polak@ochrance.cz 

Goran Selanec Office of the Ombudswoman 
for Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman Croatia goran.selanec@prs.hr 

Mari-Liis Sepper Gender Equality and Equal 
Treatment Commissioner Commissioner Estonia mari-liis.sepper@svv.ee 

Carina Van Eck Netherlands Human Rights 
Institute Commissioner Netherlands c.van.eck@mensenrechten.nl 

Snježana Vasiljević University of Zagreb Assistant Professor Croatia svasilje@pravo.hr 
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NATIONAL EQUALITY BODY REPRESENTATIVES 

Shpresa Asani Commission for protection 
against discrimination Administrator Republic of 

Macedonia sh_asani@hotmail.com 

Stephanie Borg Bonaci National Commission for the 
Promotion of Equality 

Senior Policy 
Mainstreaming, 
Training and Legal 
Executive 

Malta equality@gov.mt 

Anne-Charlott Callerstig The Equality Ombudsman (DO) Development Officer Sweden anne-charlott.callerstig@do.se 

Katerina Charitou 
Office of the Commissioner for 
Administration and Human 
Rights (Ombudsman)  

Officer Cyprus kcharitou@ombudsman.gov.cy 

Martin  Clement Defenseurs des Droits Charge de mission 
d'etudes France martin.clement@defenseurdesdroits.fr

Niall Crowley Independent Equinet Board 
Advisor - niallcrowley1@gmail.com 

Tímea Csikós Office of the Commissioner for 
fundamental rights in Hungary Legal Administrator Hungary csikos.timea@ajbh.hu 

Ana Curado Commission for Equality in 
Labour and Employment Senior Officer Portugal ana.curado@cite.pt 

Fátima Duarte Commission for Citizenship and 
Gender Equality President Portugal fatima.duarte@cig.gov.pt 

Monika Krskova Slovak National Centre for 
Human Rights 

Expert Consultant, 
Department of 
External Relations, 
Research and 
Education 

Slovakia krskova@snslp.sk 

Magdalena Kuruś Human Rights Defender Office 

Head of the 
Antidiscrimination 
Law Unit, 
Department of Equal 
Treatment and 
Protection of Rights 
of Persons with 
Disabilities 

Poland m.kurus@brpo.gov.pl 

Stefania Minervino Irish Human Rights and Equality 
Commission Development Officer Ireland sxminervino@ihrec.ie 

Gitte Møller Fischer The Board of Equal Treatment, 
Denmark Legal advisor Denmark gmf@ast.dk 

Anita Sares Commission for Equality for 
Labour and Employment Senior Officer Portugal anita.sares@cite.pt

Julija Šartuch Office of the Equal 
Opportunities Ombudsman 

Specialist, Project 
Manager Lithuania julija_sartuch@yahoo.com 

Nathalie Schlenzka Federal Antidiscrimination 
Agency Germany Research Officer Germany Nathalie.Schlenka@ads.bund.de 

Liesbet Stevens Instituut voor de Gelijkheid van 
Vrouwen en Mannen  Adjunt Directrice Belgium liesbet.stevens@igvm.belgie.be 
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Anne van Eijndhoven 
Netherlands Institute for 
Human Rights (College voor de 
Rechten van de Mens) 

Policy Adviser Netherlands a.van.eijndhoven@mensenrechten.nl

Laima Vengale-Dits Office of the Equal 
Opportunities Ombudsman Senior adviser Lithuania lavaic@lrs.lt 

Cristina Maria Vlad National Council for Combating 
Discrimination 

Adviser of the 
President Romania cristinamaria.vlad@gmail.com 

Maria Voutsinou Greek Ombudsman Lawyer/Senior 
Investigator Greece voutsinou@synigoros.gr 

Caroline Wieslander 
Blucher 

The Swedish Equality 
Ombudsman legal officer Sweden caroline.wieslander-blucher@do.se 

STAKEHOLDERS' REPRESENTATIVES 

Katalin Adamis-Csaszar Milieu Limited Legal Advisor Belgium katalin.csaszar@milieu.be 

Kawa Ahangari Kurdistan Democratic party 
(KDP-Iran) 

Representative of 
KDP-Iran for EU 
affairs 

Belgium kawa.ahangari@gmail.com 

Miriam 
Folashade Ajayi European Network against 

Racism 
Intern in the Policy 
Department - m.ajayi@enar-eu.org 

Marika Andersen Bellona Europa Advisor - marika@bellona.org 

Sophie Aujean ILGA-Europe Senior Policy and 
Programmes Officer - sophie@ilga-europe.org 

Anne Aulinger European Network Against 
Racism Policy Assistant - anne@enar-eu.org 

Maria Judite Berkemeier European Economic and Social 
Committee Administrator - mariajudite.berkemeier@eesc.europa.eu 

Sally Bliss Council of the EU Equal Opportunities 
Officer - sally.bliss@consilium.europa.eu 

Edwin Bourgeois Independent 
Consultant in 
Education and 
Gender Equality 

Belgium edwin.bourgeois@gmail.com 

Julie Chrétiennot European Women’s Lobby 

Policy Officer and 
Project Coordinator 
Assistant 

- chretiennot@womenlobby.org 

Elsa Conceicao EC-Joint Research Center Assistant Policy 
Officer - elsa.conceicao@ec.europa.eu 

Anna Defour European Roma Information 
Office (ERIO) Intern - defour.anna@gmail.com 

Chris De Smet 

Toshiba: member 
BusinessEurope / Japanese 
Business Council Eu / Digital 
Europe 

CSR / Director 9S - chris.smedt@toshiba-toel.com 

Caroline Delan British Council 
Business 
Development 
Manager Maghreb 

- caroline.delan@britishcouncil.org 
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Adela Dumbravan Equality and Human Rights 
Action Centre - ACTEDO Legal Advisor Romania adela.dumbravan@gmail.com 

Emilie Griffiths British Council Intern - emilie.griffiths@britishcouncil.be 

Joanna Hofman RAND Europe Senior Analyst Belgium jhofman@rand.org 

Corinna Horst The German Marshall Fund of 
the United States 

Deputy Director, 
Brussels Office Belgium chorst@gmfus.org 

Ivana Jemelkova FTI Consulting Director Belgium ivana.jemelkova@fticonsulting.com 

Ülla Jürviste European Parliament 
Documentary 
Information 
Specialist 

- ulla.jurviste@europarl.europa.eu 

Friederike Kamm Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung Policy Officer Belgium friederike.kamm@fes-europe.eu 

Emma Klever European Movement 
International Policy Officer - emma.klever@europeanmovement.eu 

Guido Lanzke European Commission 
Policy Assistant to 
the Director for 
Equality - DG Justice 

- guido.lanzke@ec.europa.eu 

Anissa lardjane WOMEDLAW President  Founder France lardjane@msh-paris.fr 

Rosanna Lewis British Council EU Affairs Manager - rosanna.lewis@britishcouncil.be 

Pia Lindholm European Commission Legal officer - pia.lindholm@ec.europa.eu 

Grégory Luaba Déome Afropean Project asbl Founder & Associate - gregory.luaba@cvs-businesses.com 

Louise Lundberg College of Europe Student Belgium louise.lundberg@coleurope.eu 

Alen Maletić EUCIS-LLL 
Events and 
Communications 
Officer 

- alen.maletic@eucis-lll.eu 

Odile Maroutaëff Service public Régional de 
Bruxelles 

Attachée in gender 
mainstreaming Belgium omaroutaeff@sprb.irisnet.be 

Nathalie Meurens Milieu Lts Legal Advisor Belgium nathalie.meurens@milieu.be 

Maria Minis European Womens Lobby 
Netherlands delegate Netherlands mminis@xs4all.nl 

Marius Mocanu Romanian Institute for Human 
Rights (RIHR) Senior researcher Romania marius.mocanu@irdo.ro 

Alvaro Oliveira European Commission - DG 
JUSTICE Legal Officer - alvaro.oliveira@ec.europa.eu 

Charlotta Österborg European Commission -DG 
JUSTICE 

Assistant Policy 
Officer - charlotta.oesterborg@ec.europa.eu 

Julie Pascoet European Network Against 
Racism Policy officer - julie@enar-eu.org 

Jyostna Patel 
AEIDL - Association Européenne 
pour l'Information sur le 
Développement Local 

Employment Policy 
Officer - jyostna.patel@aeidl.eu 

Jennifer Pearson EASA- European Advertising 
Standards Alliance 

Communications 
Manager - jennifer.pearson@easa-alliance.org 
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Dinara Podgornova European Economic and Social 
Committee 

Gender Equality 
Specialist  Dinara.Podgornova@eesc.europa.eu

Zaneta Poposka 
Organization for Security and 
Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), 
Mission to Skopje 

Rule of Law Officer Macedonia zaneta.poposka@osce.org 

Malene Rasmussen Insurance Europe Policy Advisor, 
Conduct of Business - rasmussen@insuranceeurope.eu 

Irene Rosales Europe Region WAGGGS Gender and Diversity 
Coordinator - irene@europe.wagggsworld.org 

Marietta Sagal 
European Union Office of The 
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-
day Saints 

Intern - mlsagal@ldschurch.org 

Monika Samova European Roma Information 
Office Intern - intern2.erio@gmail.com 

Noun Sharif Ali Gigir Integrated Vision Vice president Slovenia Noon.gigir@yahoo.com 

Andrea Sebestyen Eotvos Lorand University (ELTE) PhD researcher Belgium andreaseb2004@yahoo.com 

Rosamund Shreeves European Parliamentary 
Research Service Policy analyst - rosamund.shreeves@europarl.europa.eu 

Jacques Spelkens GDF SUEZ CSR Manager France jacques.spelkens@gdfsuez.com 

Johan ten Geuzendam European Commission Advisor Directorate 
D Equality - johan.ten-geuzendam@ec.europa.eu 

Maria Thorsnes EEA & Norway Grants 

Sector Officer - 
Gender Equality and 
Gender-based 
Violence 

- mariathorsnes@gmail.com 

Anne-Marja Vainikka General Secretariat of the 
Council of the European Union Administrator - anne-marja.vainikka@consilium.europa.eu 

Nusha Yonkova European Network of Migrant 
Women 

Member and former 
Chair Ireland Nusha@immigrantcouncil.ie 

Irene Zancanaro IRS - Istituto Ricerca Sociale Brussels Executive 
Office Manager 

Belgium 
(Italy) irs-bruxelles@irsonline.it 

EQUINET SECRETARIAT - EVENT MANAGEMENT TEAM 

Sarah Cooke O'Dowd Communications Officer sarah.cookeodowd@equineteurope.org

Yannick Godin Administration and Finance Officer Yannick.Godin@equineteurope.org

Tamás Kádár Senior Policy Officer Tamas.Kadar@equineteurope.org

Jessica Machacova Project Officer Jessica.Machacova@equineteurope.org

Thierry Maroit TM Image thierry.maroit@galilee.be 

Isabella Prestegaard Trainee sneboldrosa@gmail.com 

Michel Topolovec  Trainee Mihael.Topolovec@equineteurope.org 

Tamieck van Vuuren Trainee Tamieck.VanVuuren@equineteurope.org 

Ilaria Volpe Policy Officer (Gender Equality) Ilaria.Volpe@equineteurope.org
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THE PERSISTENCE OF DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT AND INEQUALITY FOR 
WOMEN 

THE WORK OF EQUALITY BODIES INFORMING A NEW EUROPEAN COMMISSION STRATEGY 
FOR GENDER EQUALITY 

AN EQUINET PERSPECTIVE (DRAFT VERSION - MARCH 2015) 

Executive Summary (Full working paper in the Conference pack) 

Equinet has prepared this Perspective to gather the learning from the work of equality bodies across 
Europe so as to inform the preparation and content of a new European Commission Strategy for 
Gender Equality. It is based on a workshop of the Equinet Gender Equality Working Group and a 
survey of its member equality bodies that was responded to by twenty six equality bodies. 

The work of the equality bodies is gathered and analysed under five different headings: 

• Mainstreaming led initiatives: focus on issues of equal pay, work-life balance and policy-
making.

• Litigation led initiatives: focus on issues of pregnancy related discrimination, harassment on
the ground of gender and sexual harassment, and goods and services. Litigation led work
included a focus on under-reporting of discrimination.

• Communication led initiatives: focus on addressing gender stereotypes.
• Activities in relation to men: focus on litigation, the role of men in gender equality, breaking

stereotypes, and equality in the sphere of caring work.
• Activities in relation to trans people: focus on litigation, research and legal recognition of

trans people.

Proposals for the new Strategy are set out based on this analysis of the work of equality bodies and 
on earlier Equinet initiatives in relation to violence against women, the Gender Goods and Services 
Directive, work life balance, equal pay, discrimination against trans people, and harassment on the 
ground of gender and sexual harassment.  

These proposals include the need for the new Strategy to address the challenge of stimulating a new 
priority for gender equality, finding new activities capable of engaging with the impact of austerity 
policies, and establishing further ways to measure progress on gender equality. 

They include the need to continue work on the areas prioritised under the current strategy, in 
particular addressing: 

1. Gender budgeting and gender mainstreaming in policy-making, policy implementation and
policy evaluation, in particular the Europe 2020 Strategy.

2. Further legislation at European level in relation to the need for reconciliation between work
and family life, including a comprehensive leave framework encompassing different forms of
statutory leave (including paternity leave), rights in relation to flexible working arrangements
and continued work on and adoption of the Maternity Directive.

3. Action on violence against women including, in particular, harassment on the ground of
gender and sexual harassment in the workplace, in education, and in the provision of goods
and services.
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4. Segregation in the labour market and unequal pay, with particular attention to transparency
and the implementation of the European Commission recommendation on the gender pay
gap.

They include the need to continue work on the horizontal issues prioritised under the current 
strategy, in particular addressing: 

1. The role and contribution of men in relation to gender equality.
2. The elimination of discrimination, gaps in equal treatment legislation, realising the potential

of equality bodies, and under-reporting of discrimination.
3. The elimination of  pregnancy-related discrimination in employment, including further

legislation to secure the rights of pregnant women and their protection from discrimination.

New priority themes are proposed as part of these proposals, in particular addressing: 

1. Equality in the field of caring work including promoting workplace practice that is supportive
of work-life balance, reversing the increased caring responsibilities on women as a result of
austerity policies, the rights of domestic workers, and the role of men in caring work.

2. Stereotyping on the ground of gender in the media, advertising, and education.
3. Trans people, Intersex people, and gender identity/gender expression issues.
4. Multiple discrimination where the ground of gender intersects with the grounds of age, racial

or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, and sexual orientation and with issues of poverty
and of lone parenting.

The proposals include a focus on the need to further develop the infrastructure for equality, in 
particular addressing: 

1. The inclusion of equality bodies in deliberation, decision-making and monitoring in relation
to the Strategy at Member State and European levels.

2. Developing standards at European level to ensure that the conditions are sufficiently created
for equality bodies to achieve their full potential in their work on gender equality.

3. Measures in equal treatment legislation that require equality action plans on the ground of
gender by employers and service providers; that strengthen and support positive action on
the ground of gender by employers and service providers; and that require public bodies to
have due regard to gender equality in carrying out their functions.

4. In the absence of such measures, the new Strategy could promote and support the
preparation and implementation of equality action plans on the ground of gender on a
voluntary basis by employers and service providers; ensure clarification and a broader
interpretation as to when positive action can be used and to what extent; and promote and
support gender mainstreaming at a national level.
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EQUINET PUBLICATIONS ON DIFFERENT ASPECTS OF GENDER EQUALITY 

Harassment on the basis of Gender and Sexual Harassment: Supporting the Work of 
Equality Bodies (February 2015) 

This Report analyses harassment on the basis of gender and sexual harassment as 
forms of discrimination and inequality, but also in the framework of gender-based 
violence and as violation of human rights. 

Equality Bodies and the Gender Goods and Services Directive (October 2014) 

This Equinet Report on the Application of Directive 2004/113/EC touches upon an area 
which is less known and often newer for equality bodies working on gender equality: 
access to and supply of goods and services. 

Equal Pay - the experience of equality bodies (March 2014) 

Equality bodies are mandated by EU gender equality legislation to ensure the 
promotion, analysis, monitoring and support of equal treatment of all persons without 
discrimination on the ground of sex in matters of employment and occupation. As part 
of their work, the practical implementation of the principle of equal pay for equal work 
and work of equal value is central. Their experience on the ground at national level 

confirms that, notwithstanding a long presence of the principle in EU and national legislation, equal 
pay in practice is still to be achieved. 

Equality Bodies Promoting a Better Work-Life Balance for All (July 2014) 

The reconciliation of work and family life includes statutory leave arrangements, 
flexible work organisation and working time arrangements that enable employees with 
caring responsibilities to have both a career and a satisfying private and family life. It 
further includes opportunities to return to paid employment for those who have left the 
labour market to raise children and/or care for family members. It also includes 

provisions to protect against discrimination. It is a focus for equality bodies in their work on the 
ground of gender and, in some instances, on the ground of family status. 

Making Equality Legislation Work for Trans People (September 2010) 

This perspective provides insight into the work of equality bodies in promoting equality 
for, and combating discrimination against trans people at Member State level. 
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New Directions for Equality between Women and Men (November 2009) 

This publication is Equinet’s opinion to the European Commission on the new Roadmap 
for Equality between Women and Men. The opinion draws directly from the work of the 
specialised equality bodies in implementing equal treatment legislation at Member 

State level and is, therefore, only focused on the policy areas and issues that fall within the remit of 
equality bodies. 

These and other Equinet publications are available on www.equineteurope.org and can be ordered 
online (www.equineteurope.org/Order-publications) or via the publication request form available 
at the display stand close to the registration stand. 
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Equinet, the European Network of Equality Bodies, brings together 42 organizations from 
32 European countries, which are empowered to counteract discrimination as national 
equality bodies across the range of grounds including age, disability, gender, race or ethnic 
origin, religion or belief, and sexual orientation. 

Equality bodies are independent organisations assisting victims of discrimination, 
monitoring and reporting on discrimination issues, and promoting equality. They are 
legally required to promote equality and combat discrimination in relation to one, some, or 
all of the grounds of discrimination covered by European Union (EU) law – gender, race and 
ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief and disability. The establishment of 
equality bodies in the Member States is stipulated by the EU equal treatment legislation 
(Gender Equal Treatment Directives and the Racial Equality Directive). 

Equinet promotes equality in Europe through supporting and enabling the work of national 
equality bodies. It supports equality bodies to be independent and effective as valuable 
catalysts for more equal societies. 

In December 2014, Equinet adopted its new Strategic Plan 2015-2018 that represents a 
roadmap for the European Network for the coming four years. The Strategic Plan is framed 
with four key objectives : 

A. Building Capacity and Peer Support of Equality Bodies 
B. Contributing to the European Equality Agenda 
C. Serving as a Knowledge and Communication Hub on Equal Treatment 
D. Consolidating the Network and the Position of its Members 



equinet member equality bodieS

ALBANIA
Commissioner for the Protection from Discrimination
www.kmd.al

AUSTRIA
Ombud for Equal Treatment
www.gleichbehandlungsanwaltschaft.at

BELGIUM
Interfederal Centre for Equal Opportunities
www.diversite.be and www.diversiteit.be

BELGIUM
Institute for the Equality of Women and Men
http://igvm-iefh.belgium.be

BULGARIA
Commission for Protection against Discrimination
www.kzd-nondiscrimination.com

CROATIA
Office of the Ombudsman
www.ombudsman.hr

CROATIA
Ombudsperson  for Gender Equality
www.prs.hr

CYPRUS
Office of the Commissioner for Administration and 
Human Rights (Ombudsman)
www.ombudsman.gov.cy

CZECH REPUBLIC
Public Defender of Rights
www.ochrance.cz

DENMARK
Board of Equal Treatment
www.ast.dk

DENMARK
Danish Institute for Human Rights
www.humanrights.dk

ESTONIA
Gender Equality and Equal Treatment Commissioner
www.svv.ee

FINLAND
Ombudsman for Equality
www.tasa-arvo.fi

FINLAND
Non-Discrimination Ombudsman
www.ofm.fi

FRANCE
Defender of Rights
www.defenseurdesdroits.fr

GERMANY
Federal Anti-Discrimination Agency
www.antidiskriminierungsstelle.de

GREECE
Greek Ombudsman
www.synigoros.gr

HUNGARY
Equal Treatment Authority
www.egyenlobanasmod.hu

HUNGARY
Office of the Commissioner for Fundamental Rights
www.ajbh.hu

IRELAND
Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission
www.equality.ie

ITALY
National Office against Racial Discrimination - UNAR
www.unar.it

ITALY
National Equality Councillor
www.lavoro.gov.it/ConsiglieraNazionale/

LATVIA
Office of the Ombudsman
www.tiesibsargs.lv

LITHUANIA
Office of the Equal Opportunities Ombudsperson
www.lygybe.lt

LUXEMBURG
Centre for Equal Treatment
www.cet.lu

(FYRO) MACEDONIA
Commission for the Protection against Discrimination
www.kzd.mk/mk/

MALTA
National Commission for the Promotion of Equality
www.equality.gov.mt

MALTA
National Commission for Persons with Disability
www.knpd.org

NETHERLANDS
Netherlands Institute for Human Rights
www.mensenrechten.nl

NORWAY
Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud
www.ldo.no

POLAND
Human Rights Defender
www.rpo.gov.pl

PORTUGAL
Commission for Citizenship and Gender Equality
www.cig.gov.pt

PORTUGAL
Commission for Equality in Labour and Employment
www.cite.gov.pt

PORTUGAL
High Commission for Migration
www.acidi.gov.pt

ROMANIA
National Council for Combating Discrimination
www.cncd.org.ro

SERBIA
Commissioner for Protection of Equality
www.ravnopravnost.gov.rs

SLOVAKIA
National Centre for Human Rights
www.snslp.sk

SLOVENIA
Advocate of the Principle of Equality
www.zagovornik.net

SPAIN
Council for the Elimination of Ethnic or Racial 
Discrimination
www.igualdadynodiscriminacion.msssi.es/ 

SWEDEN
Equality Ombudsman
www.do.se

UNITED KINGDOM - GREAT BRITAIN
Equality and Human Rights Commission
www.equalityhumanrights.com

UNITED KINGDOM - NORTHERN IRELAND
Equality Commission for Northern Ireland
www.equalityni.org

www.equineteurope.org
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